
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 
 EASTERN DIVISION 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 

)  
    v.    )  
      ) Violations: Title 18, United States 
ROBERT SPADONI   ) Code, Sections 1341 and 1957 
      ) 
  
 

COUNT ONE 

 The SPECIAL OCTOBER 2022 GRAND JURY charges: 

1. At times material to this indictment: 

a. Hospital A was a full-service hospital located in Oak Park, 

Illinois. Hospital A was wholly owned by Hospital System A, a regional academic 

health system headquartered in Chicago, Illinois. 

b. Hospital System A offered accredited residency programs, 

including the Podiatry Residency Program (“PRP”), a three-year program that 

provided training in the primary care and surgery of the foot and ankle. The PRP was 

located within Hospital A. 

c. Defendant ROBERT SPADONI was the Vice President and Chief 

Operating Officer (“COO”) of Hospital A. As Vice President and COO, defendant 

ROBERT SPADONI had the authority to cause Hospital A to issue checks payable to 

vendors. 

d. As a part of his employment with Hospital A, defendant ROBERT 

SPADONI was required to comply with Hospital System A’s conflict of interest policy, 

which prohibited, among other things, employees and their family members from 
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having a financial interest in an organization doing and seeking to do business with 

Hospital System A, its subsidiaries, and its affiliates, including Hospital A.  

e. Individual A was married to defendant ROBERT SPADONI.  

f. Individual B was the President of Elucidating Business Solutions 

(“EBS”), an Illinois corporation that provided administrative support and compliance 

services to Hospital A prior to January 2014.  

g. Individual C was the Risk Manager of Hospital A who reported to 

ROBERT SPADONI. As Hospital A’s Risk Manager, Individual C’s primary 

responsibilities were to review and evaluate reports about medical errors, safety 

issues, and complaints made against Hospital A, and to elevate reports that were 

likely to lead to a financial loss to Hospital A’s management. Individual C was not an 

employee of MES. 

h. Medical Education Solutions (“MES”) was an Illinois corporation 

purportedly in the business of providing administrative support and compliance 

services. MES was established by ROBERT SPANDONI, and at times represented 

that Individual A was its president, owner, director, and sole employee. 

2. Beginning in or around December 2013, and continuing until in or 

around July 2021, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, 

ROBERT SPADONI, 
 

defendant herein, knowingly devised, intended to devise, and participated in a 

scheme to defraud and to obtain money and property from Hospital A by means of 



3 
 

materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, as further 

described below.  

3. It was part of the scheme that defendant ROBERT SPADONI caused 

Hospital A to pay a total of approximately $622,500, in the form of checks, to MES 

for purported administrative support and compliance services to the Hospital A’s 

PRP, knowing that MES did not perform any services to Hospital A. 

4. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROBERT SPADONI 

caused Hospital A to enter into a professional services agreement with MES (“MES 

agreement”) to provide administrative support and compliance services to the PRP, 

knowing that MES would not provide services under the MES agreement. Under the 

terms of the MES agreement, Hospital A agreed to pay MES $6,500 per month for 

the purported administrative support and compliance services. 

5. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROBERT SPADONI 

concealed, and attempted to conceal, his and Individual A’s financial interest in MES 

from Hospital System A and Hospital A, knowing that Hospital System A’s conflict of 

interest policy prohibited defendant ROBERT SPADONI and Individual A from 

having a financial interest in an organization doing and seeking to do business with 

Hospital System A and Hospital A.  

6. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROBERT SPADONI 

caused Individual B to sign the MES agreement on behalf of MES, even though 

ROBERT SPANDONI knew that neither Individual B nor any employee of MES 

would provide services to the PRP on behalf of MES. 
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7. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROBERT SPADONI 

submitted, and cause to be submitted, monthly MES invoices to Hospital A that 

purportedly reflected administrative support and compliance services rendered under 

the MES agreement, knowing that such services had not been rendered by MES.  

8. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROBERT SPADONI, 

as COO of Hospital A, approved and caused to be approved the MES invoices, causing 

Hospital A to mail check payments to MES for the purported services rendered, 

knowing that MES had not rendered any services under the MES agreement. 

9. It was further part of the scheme that defendant Individual A deposited, 

and caused to be deposited, checks MES received from Hospital A into the account 

ending 2007 in the name of MES at First Midwest Bank. 

10. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROBERT SPADONI 

and Individual A used, and caused to be used, the funds obtained from Hospital A 

under the MES agreement for their own personal benefit and the personal benefit of 

others.  

11. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROBERT SPADONI, 

to conceal and attempt to conceal the scheme, provided Individual C with a $1,500 

monthly cash payment in order to perform administrative support and compliance 

services to the PRP that were otherwise covered by the MES agreement, knowing 

that Hospital A already paid MES $6,500 a month to provide the services under the 

MES agreement.  
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12. It was further part of the scheme that defendant ROBERT SPADONI 

and Individual A misrepresented, concealed, and hid, and caused to be 

misrepresented, concealed, and hid, the existence, purpose, and acts done in 

furtherance of the scheme from Hospital A through various means. 

13. As a result of this scheme, defendant ROBERT SPADONI fraudulently 

obtained, and caused MES to obtain, approximately $622,500 in payments from 

Hospital A. 

14. On or about November 25, 2019, in the Northern District of Illinois, 

Eastern Division, and elsewhere, 

ROBERT SPADONI, 
 

defendant herein, for the purpose of executing the scheme, knowingly caused to be 

delivered by U.S. mail an envelope addressed to Medical Education Solutions in 

Lockport, Illinois, which envelope contained a check from Hospital A to Medical 

Education Solutions for $6,500; 

 In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341.
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COUNT TWO 

 The SPECIAL OCTOBER 2022 GRAND JURY further charges: 
 

1. Paragraphs 1 through 13 of Count One are realleged and incorporated 

here. 

2. On or about November 2, 2020, in the Northern District of Illinois, 

Eastern Division, and elsewhere, 

ROBERT SPADONI, 
 

defendant herein, for the purpose of executing the above-described scheme, did 

knowingly cause to be delivered by U.S. mail an envelope addressed to Medical 

Education Solutions in Lockport, Illinois, which envelope contained a check from 

Hospital A to Medical Education Solutions for $6,500; 

 In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341.
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COUNT THREE 

 The SPECIAL OCTOBER 2022 GRAND JURY further charges: 
 

1. Paragraphs 1 through 13 of Count One are realleged and incorporated 

here. 

2. On or about March 1, 2021, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern 

Division, and elsewhere, 

ROBERT SPADONI, 
 

defendant herein, for the purpose of executing the above-described scheme, did 

knowingly cause to be delivered by U.S. mail an envelope addressed to Medical 

Education Solutions in Lockport, Illinois, which envelope contained a check from 

Hospital A to Medical Education Solutions for $6,500; 

 In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341.
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COUNT FOUR 

The SPECIAL OCTOBER 2022 GRAND JURY further charges: 

On or about January 3, 2019, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern 

Division, and elsewhere,  

ROBERT SPADONI, 
 

defendant herein, did knowingly engage in a monetary transaction in and affecting 

commerce in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, that is, the 

issuance of a check with funds drawn from the account ending in 2007 at First 

Midwest Bank to the Raymond James & Associates account ending 8767 in the name 

Medical Education Solutions, for the benefit of Individual A, in the amount of 

$24,500, such property having been derived from a specified unlawful activity, 

namely mail fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341; 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957. 
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COUNT FIVE 

The SPECIAL OCTOBER 2022 GRAND JURY further charges: 

On or about November 19, 2020, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern 

Division, and elsewhere,  

ROBERT SPADONI, 
 
defendant herein, did knowingly engage in a monetary transaction in and affecting 

commerce in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, that is, the 

transfer of funds drawn from the account ending in 2007 at First Midwest Bank to 

the Raymond James & Associates account ending W553 in the name Medical 

Education Solutions, for the benefit of Individual A, in the amount of $26,000, such 

property having been derived from a specified unlawful activity, namely mail fraud, 

in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341; 

 In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957. 
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COUNT SIX 

The SPECIAL OCTOBER 2022 GRAND JURY further charges: 

On or about January 20, 2022, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern 

Division, and elsewhere,  

ROBERT SPADONI, 
 
defendant herein, did knowingly engage in a monetary transaction in and affecting 

commerce in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, that is the 

transfer of funds drawn from the account ending 2007 at First Midwest Bank to the 

Raymond James & Associates account ending W553 in the name Medical Education 

Solutions, for the benefit of Individual A, in the amount of $22,500, such property 

having been derived from a specified unlawful activity, namely mail fraud, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341; 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957. 
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 

The SPECIAL OCTOBER 2022 GRAND JURY further alleges: 

1. Upon conviction of an offense in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 1341, as set forth in this Indictment, defendant shall forfeit to the United 

States of America any property which constitutes and is derived from proceeds 

traceable to the offense, as provided in Title 18, United States Code, Section 

981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c). 

2. Upon conviction of an offense in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 1957, as set forth in this Indictment, defendant shall forfeit to the United 

States of America, any property involved in such offense, and any property traceable 

to such property, as provided in Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1). 

3. The property to be forfeited includes, but is not limited to:  

a. A personal money judgment in an amount equal to the proceeds 

derived from the offense in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341, 

estimated to be approximately $622,500; and 

b. Funds in the amount of approximately $225,805 previously on 

deposit in the account ending in W553, titled to Medical Education Solutions, at 

Raymond James & Associates. 

4. If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission 

by defendant: cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence, has been 

transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party, has been placed beyond the 

jurisdiction of the Court; has been substantially diminished in value; or has been 
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commingled with other property which cannot be divided without difficulty, the 

United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property, as 

provided in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p).  

 

A TRUE BILL: 
 

  
____________________________________ 
FOREPERSON 

 
 
______________________________ 
Signed by Erika Csicsila on behalf of the 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
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